### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REBECCA E. REEVES AND JAMES REEVES,

Appellants

vs.

Supreme Court No.: 2008-TS-01605

JOHN PETERSON,

Appellee

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JEFFERSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE LAMAR PICKARD, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

> WAYNE SMITH, MSB (151 WEST MAIN STREET P O BOX 525 LIBERTY MS 39645 PHONE: (601) 657-8994 FACSIMILE: (601) 657-8987

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS REBECCA REEVES AND JAMES REEVES

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REBECCA E. REEVES AND JAMES REEVES,

Appellants

vs.

Supreme Court No.: 2008-TS-01605

JOHN PETERSON,

Appellee

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether or not the trial court erred in not allowing an oral argument on a Motion for Reconsideration or In the Alternative, A New Trial.

2. Whether or not the trial court applied the proper standard in determining the value of the timber that was removed from the property of the appellants.

1

**1**2 - 1

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a cause of action that has arisen due to a trespass and removal of timber by John Peterson upon the property of Rebecca E. Reeves and James Reeves. That the trespass onto the property of Rebecca E. Reeves and James Reeves occurred sometime in late 2005 and a cause of action was filed against John Peterson on May 26, 2006.

The history of this case is that John Peterson was previously married to Rebecca E. Reeves. That the parties jointly owned certain real property in Jefferson County, Mississippi, that had apparently been obtained by Rebecca E. Reeves (formerly Peterson) and John Peterson during their marriage. That a final ruling was entered concerning the marriage by way of Judgment of Divorce in the Family Court of East Baton Rouge Parish Louisiana thereby providing title in and to part of the jointly owned land in Jefferson County, Mississippi, to Rebecca E. Peterson Reeves. That said judgment of the Louisiana Court was duly entered by the Family Court of East Baton Rouge Parish Louisiana on July 29, 2005. (CP 36-41) That both parties acknowledge the judgment and its validity.

That immediately thereafter, with full knowledge of the division of the property, John Peterson proceeded to cut and remove certain timber from the property owned by him as well as the property owned by Rebecca E. Reeves (formerly Peterson).

A suit was filed, discovery was completed and the plaintiffs, Rebecca E. Reeves and James Reeves, filed a Motion for Summary

Judgment dealing with the issue of liability and damages. A summary judgment was entered in this case on the 30<sup>th</sup> day of January, 2007. (CP 233-235) The Court further entered a Writ of Inquiry in this case. (CP 230-232) A response to the writ of inquiry was made by the defendant, John Peterson, which was duly filed on the 20<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2007. (CP 236-270)

A final hearing was set in this cause of action for December 3, 2007. That said cause of action was heard and a memorandum and order was entered by the Court which was dated August 4, 2008, and being duly filed on August 6, 2008. (CP 304-308)

Immediately thereafter, a motion for reconsideration and, in the alternative, a new trial was filed on August 13, 2008. That the motion for reconsideration requested several things which included pre and post judgment interest, a request to reconsider the judgment and to retry th case under newly discovered evidence. The Court entered an order in this case granting the request for post judgment interest and denying any and all remaining issues in this matter. From this order the plaintiffs have appealed.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The first issue is the error by the trial court was made in motion its failure to allow oral argument for an on a reconsideration and, in the alternative, a new trial. That without a hearing in this case, the Court entered an order (CP 310-312) and without any type hearing, allowing a part of the motion for reconsideration and denying the remainder of said motion. The Court should have allowed the parties to present oral argument to support its position in this case.

The second issue in this appeal deals with the fact that the trial judge applied the incorrect standard to the damages in accordance with Section 95-5-10 of the MS Code of 1972, Annotated, as amended. That the testimony adopted by the Court indicates that the prices given by the defendant's expert were, in fact, the landowner's and/or the delivered value of the trees. That the appropriate standard for damages is the value of the tree as it stood at the time it was cut.

#### ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

### Point of Error One:

Should the trial judge have allowed an oral argument when a party filed a motion for reconsideration and, in the alternative, a new trial?

This cause of action was based upon the cutting and removal of certain timber located on the property of the plaintiffs, Rebecca and James Reeves. That a trial of this matter was completed in December 2007 and a final order entered on August 4, 2008, and being duly filed with the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Mississippi, on August 6, 2008. That immediately thereafter and within the ten (10) day period as allowed under Rule 59, a Motion for Reconsideration or in the alternative, A New Trial, was filed with the Court. (CP 310-312) Immediately thereafter, and without the benefit of a hearing, an Order was entered on August 25, 2008, by the trial judge granting part of the motion and denying all remaining issues. Specifically, the judge made a decision without allowing oral argument by the moving party.

The motion for reconsideration was filed in accordance with Rule 59 of the MS Rules of Civil Procedure and further, a hearing would have allowed the plaintiffs to produce proof of newly found evidence at this time. The appellants herein would show that they were unable to present their argument and a ruling was made without additional notification and/or hearing.

That Rule 78, which deals with motion practice, states as follows:

"Each court shall establish procedures for the prompt dispatch of business, at which motions requiring notice and hearing may be heard and disposed of; but the judge at any time or place and on such notice, if any, as he considers reasonable may make orders for the advancement, conduct, and hearing of actions."

The apparent attempt of Rule 78 of the MS Rules of Civil Procedure is to encourage the Court to allow hearings to be conducted when dealing with motions pending before the Court.

In reviewing Rule 78 in conjunction with a motion filed under Rule 59, the Court should allow a party to be heard in order to establish the position or claim made by the motion. The applicable case in this cause of action is *Adams v. Cinemark USA*, *Inc.*, 831 So.2d 1156 in which the court dealt with a motion for summary judgment. That the footnote dealing with this form of case and the annotations thereunder noted within the MS Rules Annotated, Rule 78, "Motion Practice", states as follows:

"Pursuant to Rule 78, there is a right to an oral hearing on a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56(c)."

The appellants herein fully understand that this was not a motion for summary judgment but was, in fact, a motion for reconsideration and a new trial under Rule 59. That in order to properly present their case, the appellants should have been granted the right to present an oral argument before a final decision was made. The appellants would further show that they had requested a hearing date from the circuit judge's court administrator when they

received the order of the Court.

### Point of Error Two:

Did the trial judge apply the proper standard in determining the value of the timber that was removed from the property of Rebecca E. Reeves and James Reeves?

During the course of the trial, there were two (2) expert witnesses called. One was Tom Middleton, who was the expert for the plaintiffs/appellants. The second was William Harold Brown, Jr., who was called as an expert witness for the defendant/appellee.

The trial court adopted the testimony of William Harold Brown, Jr. and incorporated his testimony into the final judgment. The testimony of Mr. Brown was that he used comparative sales that he had made during the time span that the timber was removed from the property of the appellants. Further, that his comparisons were made from bid sales as well as sales by volume.

In reference to a trial exhibit, being trial Exhibit D-12, Mr. Brown, on direct examination, testified:

"And on Page 3 [of Exhibit D-12] this reflects timber sales that I was involved with during January 2005 to January 2006." (T 46)

Mr. Brown later testified:

"Those particular sales were lump sum bids." (T 46)

When questioned on cross examination about the sale comparison, Mr. Brown stated on several occasions that the figures used were from specific bid sales. (T 56) The final derived price

for the timber varied, but was considerably lower than the testimony presented by the plaintiffs' expert, Tom Middleton.

In reviewing the testimony, it is clear that the value testified to by Mr. Brown is that which the landowner would receive. This is simply not the standard established by the law of the State of Mississippi.

That Miss. Code Ann. Section 95-5-10(1) provides as follows:

"If any person shall cut down, deaden, destroy or take away any tree without the consent of the owner of such tree, such person shall pay to the owner of such tree a sum equal to double the fair market value of the tree cut down, deadened, destroyed or taken away..."

This code section clearly states that the person who removes the tree without the consent of the owner shall pay double the fair market value of the tree. That double the fair market value of the tree has recently been defined and followed by the Supreme Court of this state in a Court of Appeals case being *Cox v. F-S Prestress, Inc.,* 97-CA-01547-COA (Miss. 2001) In *Cox*, the Court has affirmed, on several occasions, that:

"The fair market value of trees harvested on the disputed property is the value of the trees as they stand in the woods."

Further, the Court had affirmed the lower court's decision concerning the fair market value principle. This case has been cited within the footnotes of the MS Code of 1972, Annotated, as amended, in Section 95-5-10. This case affirms the position that the damages in this case and the definition of the "fair market value" of trees would be what the timber sells for while it is

standing in the woods.

1

t

The testimony of William Harold Brown, Jr. and the timber sales he has quoted are all timber sales that were made by bid and were values that would have been received by the landowners. Therefore, the Court, in this case, applied the wrong evaluation to the damages.

#### CONCLUSION

There are two (2) distinct issues in this case.

The first issue deals with motion practice of the Circuit Court. A motion was duly filed in this case and was ruled upon without the benefit of a hearing. That this Honorable Court should remand this case for further hearing.

The second issue deals with the application of Mississippi Code Section 95-5-10 in determining the value of the timber that was removed from the property of the appellants. That the trial court applied the wrong standard to determine the damages. That said damages should be the entire value of a tree as it stood before it was cut. The case law gives a clear definition of the market value of the tree.

That this Honorable Court should remand this case for further hearing to determine the appropriate damages in this case.