IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REBECCA E. REEVES AND JAMES REEVES,	
Appellants	
vs.	Supreme Court No.: 2008-TS-01605
JOHN PETERSON,	2000 15 01005
Appellee	
APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JEFFERSON HONORABLE LAMAR PICKARD, PRES	
BRIEF OF APPELLEE ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUEST	ED

ROBERT E. CLARK, MSB# 109 CARTER STREET POST OFFICE BOX 888 VIDALIA, LOUISIANA 71373 TELEPHONE/FAX (318) 336-5886

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE JOHN PETERSON

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REBECCA E. REEVES AND JAMES REEVES,

Appellants

VS.

Supreme Court No.: 2008-TS-01605

JOHN PETERSON,

Appellee

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Peterson cut timber on property that had been awarded to his ex-wife, Rebecca E. Reeves, in their community property partition by the Family Court of East Baton Rouge Parish, Louisiana. (CP 36-41) James Reeves is a party plaintiff in the law suit as he was deeded an undivided one-half interest in the property by Rebecca E. Reeves. (CP 6)

The Reeves filed a lawsuit in Jefferson County, Mississippi, on May 26, 2006. (CP 5-11) John Peterson filed an Answer to Complaint, setting forth a general denial with affirmative defenses on July 28, 2006. (CP 19-21) The Reeves filed on August 3, 2006, and then served John Peterson with Plaintiff's First Set of Request for Admissions to Defendant and Plaintiff's Combined First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents and for Things to Defendant, (CP 23-41) which were answered by John Peterson on October 2, 2006. (CP 117-124)

A Subpoena for Deposition and Notice to Take Deposition were filed by the Reeves on October 19, 2006. (CP 126-129) Following the deposition of John Peterson, the Reeves filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on December 11, 2006. (CP 156-159) John Peterson filed his Opposition to Summary Judgment on January 23, 2007. (CP 166-167) The Reeves filed a Response to Opposition of Summary Judgment on January 18, 2007. (CP 161-165)

On January 22, 2007, the trial court granted the Reeves' Motion for Summary Judgment and ordered a Writ of Inquiry, reserving to John Peterson the right to challenge the Reeves' appraisal of damages within 30 days. (CP 233-235)

On February 20, 2007, John Peterson filed his Response to Writ of Inquiry, which consisted of an expert forester's opinion as to the value of the timber cut on the Reeves' property by John Peterson. (CP 236-270)

The Reeves decided to change attorneys sometime in April, 2007, and the trial court signed an Agreed Order Allowing Substitution of Counsel on October 8, 2007. (CP 274-298)

The Writ of Inquiry was tried on December 3, 2007, and the trial court, after the presentation of the evidence from both expert witnesses and the parties, took the case under advisement and ordered the parties to submit findings of facts and conclusions of law. (Supplemental 71)

On February 25, 2008, the Reeves filed a Motion to Re-Open Case for Additional Evidence, which was denied by the trial court on May 7, 2008. (CP 300-303)

On August 6, 2008, the trial court filed its Memorandum and Order, which ordered John Peterson to pay the total sum of \$92,901.60 to the Reeves as damages for the cutting of the timber. (CP 304-308)

On August 13, 2008, the Reeves filed a Motion for Reconsideration or, in the Alternative, a New Trial, requesting a ruling on pre and/or post judgment interest and a new trial based upon recently obtained new evidence. (CP 310-312) John Peterson responded to Motion by Objection on August 25, 2008, and the trial court issued an Order granting post-judgment interest at the rate of 8% and denying all other issues. (CP 313-314)

Aggrieved by the decision of the trial court herein, the Reeves filed their Notice of Appeal, Designation of the Record, and Certificate of Compliance with Rule 11 (b)(1) on September 25, 2008. (CP 319-326)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Reeves' timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration or, in the Alternative, a New Trial, which John Peterson opposed by written opposition. The trial court granted post-judgment interest, denied prejudgment interest, and denied a new trial. (CP 313) The motion set forth the reasons for a new trial to be "...recently obtained new evidence." (CP 311) This new evidence was alleged to be a survey. (CP 311) The motion did not set forth sufficient allegations to require the trial court to set a hearing, nor did the Reeves' file a Notice of Hearing with the Motion.

The second issue concerning the correct fair market value of the timber cut is without merit. Both experts based their fair market values upon the same criteria, using the same methodology. The Reeves argue the trial court accepted John Peterson's expert's opinion and that the opinion was based upon the incorrect standard to determine damages under Section 95-5-10, Mississippi Code, 1972, Annotated, as amended. The Reeves' expert used the same criteria to determine his opinion as to the damages. (CP 14-17) Both experts used the correct standard to determine the damages. The trial court chose the better documented opinion. (CP 305) There was no error by the trial court.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

The Reeves filed their Motion for Reconsideration or, in the Alternate, a New Trial. (CP 310-312) John Peterson filed his Objection, and the trial court made its ruling without allowing oral argument. (CP-313-314) The Reeves did not ask for oral argument in their motion. The trial court's denial of a motion for reconsideration, or new trial, is reviewed for abuse of discretion. LeClerc v. Webb, 419 F. 3rd 405, 412 n. 13 (5th Cir. 2005) (citing Westbrook v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 68 F. 3rd 868, 879 (5th Cir. 1995). The trial court carefully considered both expert witnesses' testimonies and formed an informed opinion based upon the law and the evidence. The facts of this case do not justify the "extraordinary remedy" of "...reconsideration of a judgment after its entry...." Id. (quoting Templet v. HydroChem, Inc., 367 F. 3rd 473, 479 (5th Cir. 2004). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in its failure to allow oral argument on the motion.

The second issue concerns the standard of damages under Section 95-5-10, Mississippi Code, 1972, Annotated, as amended. Both experts testified as to their fair market values of the timber cut, and the difference between the amounts was less than \$4,000.00.

The trial court accepted John Peterson's expert's values because of "...the independent documentation of those values." (CP 305)

Both experts based their values on an estimate of the number of board feet of each species of tree based upon the diameter of the stump. (CP 44, 238) The Reeves are complaining that the wrong values were placed upon the timber cut, however both experts used the same method of computation of the value of the timber, that is, price times number of board feet. (Supplemental Vol. 1, 28-31, 45-48)

The Reeves complain the trial court committed reversible error by using John Peterson's expert's values, however the Reeves' expert used the same methodology to compute his values.

The trial court applied the correct standard to compute the damages under Section 95-5-10, Mississippi Code, 1972, Annotated, as amended.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's decision should be affirmed. The motion filed by the Reeves did not set out on its face sufficient grounds for the trial court to grant a hearing on their motion. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Both experts used the same method to compute their values for the timber removed. The record contains the fair market value of the timber as set forth by each expert, and their values were less than \$4,000.00 apart. The trial court accepted John Peterson's expert's opinion as it was more documented. The trial court's decision was proper based upon the evidence and the law.